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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOHN THORPE :
Plaintiff, :

vs. :
:

BOROUGH OF JIM THORPE, PA, : Case No.: 3:10-cv-01317-ARC
MICHAEL SOFRANKO, RONALD CONFER, :
JOHN McGUIRE, JOSEPH MARZEN, :
W. TODD MASON, JEREMY MELBER, :
JUSTIN YAICH, JOSEPH KREBS, :
GREG STRUBINGER, KYLE SHECKLER :
& JOANNE KLITSCH, Defendants :

DEFENDANTS’ BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT

AND NOW, come the above-captioned Defendants, by and through their undersigned counsel,

and pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(7), and submits this Brief in

Support of their Motion to Dismiss the Complaint filed by the Plaintiff, John Thorpe (“Plaintiff”).

I.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff filed the Complaint on June 24, 2010.  The Plaintiff’s only Count to his Complaint,

namely “Count I: Violation of Plaintiff’s Rights under NAGPRA (25 U.S.C. §§ 3001 - 3013) pursuant

to 42 U.S.C. § 1983", is solely an action to bring forth a claim for an alleged violation of 42 U.S.C. §

1983 premised upon the Defendants’ alleged violations of the Native American Graves Protection and

Repatriation Act (hereinafter referred to as “NAGPRA”).  

II.  STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Borough of Jim Thorpe is a borough within Carbon County, Pennsylvania (Pl.’s Compl.

¶ 5).  John Thorpe is the son of James F. Thorpe (Id. at ¶ 4).  James F. Thorpe (“Jim Thorpe”) was

buried within the borough (Id. at ¶¶ 28-30).  Michael Sofranko is currently the Mayor of the Borough

of Jim Thorpe (Id. at ¶ 6).  Ronald Confer was previously the Mayor of the Borough (Id. at ¶ 7).  John

Case 3:10-cv-01317-ARC   Document 15    Filed 08/23/10   Page 1 of 15



2

McGuire has been the President of the Borough at various times (Id. at ¶ 8).  Joseph Marzen, W. Todd

Mason, Jeremy Meber, Justin Yaich, Joeseph Krebs, Greg Strubinger, Kyle Sheckler, Joanne Klitsch

are currently or have been a member of the Jim Thorpe Borough Council. (Id. at ¶¶ 9-16).

The Plaintiff alleges that the Defendants have violated the provisions of the NAGPRA for the

failure to consult with him as a lineal descendant of Jim Thorpe under 25 U.S.C. § 3003 (Id. at ¶ 3).

An allegation is made that the Defendants have failed to publish an inventory since at least 1993 (Id.

at ¶ 1).  The Plaintiff further alleges that the Defendants have failed to repatriate Jim Thorpe’s body to

him as a lineal descendant under 25 U.S.C. § 3005 (Id.).  Due to these allegations, the Plaintiff is

seeking monetary and punitive damages, attorneys, expert witness fees, as compensation for past

violations of the NAGPRA (Id. at ¶¶ 1-2).  The Plaintiff also seeks an injunction for present and future

violations of the NAGPRA (Id. at ¶ 2).

III.  STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS INVOLVED

A. Whether the Plaintiff has standing when the Plaintiff is not the intended party to seek
relief under the NAGPRA and his claims are not ripe because he has not exhausted his administrative
remedies through the Secretary of Interior.  Suggested Answer: No. 

B. Whether Plaintiff’s 42 U.S.C. § 1983 cause of action is precluded by the NAGPRA when
a detailed administrative remedy scheme and private cause of actiona re available under the NAGPRA.
Suggested Answer: Yes. 

C. Whether the Plaintiff’s has failed to state a viable cause of action pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 when the Plaintiff has failed to plead any specific grounds of how the Defendants were acting
under color of law to violated any provisions under the NAGPRA. Suggested Answer: Yes. 

D. Whether the individually named Defendants acting in their official capacity are entitled
to qualified immunity.  Suggested Answer: Yes.  

E.  Whether Plaintiff states a claim in Count I of the Complaint for which relief can be
granted pursuant to the NAGPRA, where the Borough of Jim Thorpe is not a museum as defined by
the Act?  Suggested Answer: No.

F. Whether the Plaintiff failed to join all necessary parties under F.R.C.P. 19 when he failed
to include all lineal descendants or the Sac and Fox Nation of Oklahoma and Potawatomi Tribe as
additional Defendants who may have competing interests to the Plaintiff.  Suggested Answer: Yes.

Case 3:10-cv-01317-ARC   Document 15    Filed 08/23/10   Page 2 of 15



1  The return or restoration of a person or object to his or its origin.  Black’s Law
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IV.  ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The Court, when deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion,  must accept as true “well plead factual

allegation” contained in the complaint, not bald conclusory statements.  M.A. ex rel. ES v. State

Operated School Dist. Of City of Newwark, 344 F. 3rd 335, 340 (3rd Cir. 2003).  The Court need not

accept as true “unsupported conclusions and unwarranted inferences.”  Doug Grant, Inc. v. Great Bay

Casino Corp., 232 F.3d 173, 184 (3rd Cir. 2000)[citations omitted].  Although the Court accepts all

factual allegations in the complaint as true and inferences that can be fairly drawn, the Court is not

required to accept legal conclusions either alleged or inferred.  Kost v. Kozakiewicz, 1 F.3d 176, 183

(3d Cir. 1993).  Factual allegations must be “enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative

level.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed. 2d 929 (2007).  

B. Plaintiff lacks standing and the Plaintiff’s claims are not ripe

1. The case should be dismissed since the legislative history indicates that the
NAGPRA was never intended to pertain to modern remains and burials.

The NAGPRA was enacted in 1990 to protect Native American cultural items, which include

human remains, funerary objects, sacred objects and objects of cultural patrimony which are excavated

or removed from Federal or Tribal lands and to address proper ownership of such items currently held

or controlled by Federal agencies and museums. H.R. REP. 101-877, 8-9 (1990).  

The Act’s purpose is to repatriate1 Native American human remains and artifacts that have been

removed from Native American grave sites mainly during the Nineteenth Century and the early part

of the Twentieth Century. Id., at 9.  During this time period little attention was given to the desecration

of Native American burial sites which resulted in hundreds of thousands of Native American remains
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2  A museum is a building in which works of artistic, historical, and scientific value are
exhibited.  American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 864 (1969)
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and other cultural artifacts being sold or housed in museums2 and educational institutions around the

country. Id.  

“NAGPRA establishes a system for federal agencies and museums to inventory holdings of

these remains and work with the appropriate tribe to repatriate such remains.” Indrogo v. United States

Army, 18 F. Supp. 2d 25, 26 (D.D.C. 1998).  “The NAGPRA represents the culmination of ‘decades

of struggle by Native American tribal governments and people to protect against grave desecration, to

[effect the repatriation of] thousands of dead relatives or ancestors, and to retrieve stolen or improperly

acquired cultural property.’” San Carlos Apache Tribe v. United States, 272 F. Supp. 2d 860, 886-887

(D. Ariz. 2003)(quoting Yankton Sioux Tribe b, United States Army Corps of Eng’rs, 83 F. Supp. 2d

1047,1055 (D.S.D. 2000).

Turning to the matter at hand, the NAGPRA clearly was not intended to apply to the protection

of and repatriation of modern remains such as those of Jim Thorpe.  Jim Thorpe’s grave site was not

“descrated” nor was his body “stolen or improperly acquired”.  In fact, his remains were interred by

his widow voluntarily in the Borough of Jim Thorpe.  It is true that Jim Thorpe is of Indian descent,

however, his remains are not cultural items to which the Act attempts to protect and repatriate.

2. The case should be dismissed since the Plaintiff lacks standing as he is not
a party intended for relief under the NAGPRA and therefore does not fall
within the zone of interests protected by NAGPRA.

In order to have standing, the Plaintiff must establish the following three elements: (1) injury

in fact, (2)causation, and (3) likelihood that a favorable decision will redress the injury.  The Plaintiff

bears the burden of establishing standing.  Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61, 112

S.Ct. 2130, 119 L.Ed. 2d 351 (1992).  “[A] plaintiff raising only a generally available grievance about

government–claiming only harm to his and every citizen’s interest in proper application of the
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Constitution and laws, and seeking relief that no more directly and tangibly benefits him than it does

the public at large-does not state an Article III case or controversy.”  Id., at 573-74.  Another element

of statutory standing is the “zone-of-interests” test, which is a determination of “whether, apart from

the directness of the injury, the plaintiff is within the class of persons sought to be benefitted by the

provision at issue.”  Holmes v. Sec. Investor Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 287, 112 S.Ct. 1311, 117 L.Ed.

2d 532 (1992).  The “zone of interests” test ask “whether the interest sought to be protected by the

complainant is arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or

constitutional guarantee in question.”  Bennet v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 163, 117 S.Ct. 1154, 137 L.Ed.

2d 281 (1997).  Simply put, “the question [that statutory standing] asks is whether Congress has

accorded this injured plaintiff the right to sue the defendant to redress his injury.”  Graden v. Conexant

Sys. Inc., 496 F.3d 291, 295 (3rd Cir. 2007)[emphasis in original].

The NAGPRA establishes rights of tribes and lineal descendants to obtain repatriation of human

remains and cultural items found in federal public lands and tribal lands.  See NAGPRA, 25 U.S.C. §

3001, et seq.  “The NAGPRA exists to give protection to Native American artifacts, cultural items, and

other such objects ‘having ongoing historical, traditional, or cultural importance central to the Native

American group or culture itself, rather than property owned by an individual Native American.’”

Romero v. Becken, 256 F.3d 349, 354-55 (5th Cir. 2001)(citing 25 U.S.C. § 3001(3)(D)).  The Plaintiff

has failed to set forth how the return of the Jim Thorpe’s remains to him personally would have an

ongoing cultural importance to the Native American culture itself.  The Plaintiff does not fall within

the zone of interest of parties intended to be protected by the Act as he is seeking individual

compensation for the failure to return his father’s remains to him personally rather than to protect the

ongoing historical tradition of Native American culture.  Furthermore it is  obvious that Jim Thorpe’s

remains need not be returned to a place in which they were never taken.

The purpose of the NAGPRA is to repatriate ancestral Native American remains and cultural
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artifacts to affiliated tribes and not to resolve family burial disputes.  The NAGPRA  aims to repatriate

ancestral, ancient human remains to its affiliated tribe.  See Fallon Paiute-Shoshone Tribe v. United

States BLM, 455 F. Supp. 2d 1207 (D. N.V. 2006)(Tribe sought repatriation under NAGPRA of human

remains that were 1,500 to 2,000 years old); see also Bonnichsen v. United States, Dep’t of the Army,

969 F. Supp. 614 (D. Or. 1997).  “The NAGPRA exists to give protection to Native American artifacts,

cultural items, and other such objects ‘having ongoing historical, traditional, or cultural importance

central to the Native American group or culture itself, rather than property owned by an individual

Native American.’”  Castro Romero v. Becken, 256 F.3d 349, 354-55 (5th Cir. 2001)(quoting 25 U.S.C.

§3001(3)(D)).  

Here, the remains of Jim Thorpe have been interred in a burial site located within the Borough

and done so with permission of his widow at the time of his death (See Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss, Exhibit

“A”).  The repatriation of Jim Thorpe’s remains to his son does not fall within the plain meaning of the

NAGPRA, and is a gross mis-application of its intent.  His body was properly  laid to rest within the

Borough that proudly agreed to honor him by not only baring his name but also by providing a final

resting place for him. The Borough further agreed to maintain Thorpe’s grave site indefinitely, as

tribute to the legacy of Jim Thorpe and out of respect for the lending of his name to the Borough.

Furthermore, his body was not taken from tribal grounds, placed on display or held in a collection such

that his burial site could be construed as a museum.  He was merely laid to rest in accordance with his

faith. 

3. The case should be dismissed since the Plaintiff’s claims are not ripe for
judicial review as he has not exhausted his administrative remedies under
the NAGPRA.

The Plaintiff has failed to exercise the appropriate federal regulatory scheme to invoke a federal

administrative agency. In order to have standing, the Plaintiff’s claim must be ripe for review.  See e.g.,

O’Shea v. Littleton, 414 U.S. 488, 94 S.Ct. 669, 38 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1974).  Hence, the Plaintiff is not
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subject to a contested regulatory action.  See Bonnichsen v. U.S. Dept of Army, 969 F.Supp. 628 (D. Or.

1997).  “The doctrine of ripeness prevents courts from ‘entangling themselves in abstract disagreements

over administrative polices’ and protects ‘agencies from judicial interference until an administrative

decision has been formalized and its effects felt in a concrete way by the challenging parties’.”  Fallon

Paiute-Shoshone Tribe v. US. Bureau of Land Management, 455 F.Supp. 2d 1207, 1213 (D. NV.

2006)(citing Abbott Labs. v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 148-49 (1967)); see also Monet v. Hawaii, 1997

U.S. App. LEXIS 11297, *4-5 (9th Cir. Haw. 1997)(dismissing NAGPRA claim for lack of ripeness).

Without taking the required steps through the federal administrative agency to initiate any reparation

rights, the Plaintiff’s claim is not ripe as there is no administrative agency action to review.  

The NAGPRA outlines a specific statutory scheme to be followed if a museum fails to

comply with inventory and notice requirements of the Act. 43 C.F.R. 10.12. “Any person may bring

an [written] allegation of failure to comply to the attention of the Secretary [of the Interior].” 43

C.F.R. 10.12(c). Upon receipt of written allegations, the Secretary must acknowledge receipt of the

allegations in writing . . . and “[d]etermine if the institution of civil penalty action is an appropriate

remedy.” 43 C.F.R. 10.12(d)(2). Thereafter the Secretary must provide written notice to the person

making the allegations and to the museum if the Secretary determines that there was not a failure to

comply. 43 C.F.R. 10.12(d)(3). If the Secretary determines that a museum has failed to comply, then

the Secretary must provide written notice of failure to comply to the museum and send a copy of the

notice to any and all lineal descendants of a known Native American whose remains are in question

and all Indian Tribes that is culturally affiliated with the human remains. Id.  A “person’s

administrative remedies are exhausted [concerning repatriation] only when the person has filed a

written claim with the responsible museum ... and the claim has been ...denied...” 43 C.F.R. 10.15.

C. The case should be dismissed since the Plaintiff’s 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim is
precluded by NAGPRA because the NAGPRA entails an exhaustive
administrative remedy and creates its own cause of action.
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The Plaintiff’s only Count to his Complaint, namely “Count I: Violation of Plaintiff’s Rights

under NAGPRA (25 U.S.C. §§ 3001 - 3013) pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983", is solely an action to

bring forth a claim for an alleged violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 premised upon the Defendants’

alleged violations of the NAGPRA.  As will be addressed below, the Plaintiff’s Complaint is a

premature attempt to drag the Defendants into federal court as the Plaintiff has not exhausted his

administrative remedies to proceed with such a remedy under NAGPRA.  As such, the Plaintiff’s

Section 1983 claim is precluded by NAGPRA.  

The U.S. Supreme Court has recently readdressed the issue of the test to determine whether a

42 U.S.C.  § 1983 claim is precluded by a separate federal statutory enactment.  Fitzgerald v.

Barnstable School Committee, 129 S.Ct. 788, 172 L.Ed. 2d 582 (2009).  The Fitzgerald Court

reviewed three seminal U.S. Supreme Court cases which find that statutory enactments preclude

claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  Id. (citing Middlesex County Sewerage Authority v. National Sea

Clammers Assn., 453 U.S. 1, 101 S.Ct. 2615, 69 L.Ed. 2d 435 (1981); Smith v. Robinson, 468 U.S.

992, 104 S.Ct. 3457, 82 L.Ed. 2d 746 (1984); Rancho Palos Verdes v. Abrams, 544 U.S. 113, 125

S.Ct. 1453, 161 L.Ed. 2d 316 (2005)).  The Fitzgerald Court framed the issue of Section 1983

preclusion as follows:

The critical question, then, is whether Congress meant the judicial remedy
authorized by statute to coexist with an alternative remedy available in a § 1983
action.  In those cases in which the § 1983 claim is based on a statutory right,
evidence of such congressional intent may be found directly in the statute creating
the right, or inferred from the statute’s creation of a comprehensive enforcement
scheme that is incompatible with individual enforcement under § 1983.  Id., at
794, 172 L.Ed. 2d at 591[citations omitted].

    The Fitzgerald Court next further noted where it found federal statutory preclusion to

Section 1983 claims before:

In [Sea Clammers, Smith, and Rancho Palos Verdes, supra], the statutes at issue
required plaintiffs to comply with particular procedures and/or to exhaust
particular administrative remedies prior to filing suit.  Offering plaintiffs a direct
route to court via 42 U.S.C.S. § 1983 would have circumvented these procedures
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and given plaintiffs access to tangible benefits – such as damages, attorney’s fees,
and costs – that were unavailable under the statutes.  Allowing a plaintiff to
circumvent the statutes’ provisions in this way would have been inconsistent with
Congress’s carefully tailored scheme.  Id., at 795, 172 L.Ed. 2d at 592 [citations
omitted].

When congress makes a decision to authorize a private cause of action, then Section 1983 does not

apply and a Plaintiff cannot build on a Section 1983 claim with NAGPRA.  See Sea Clammers,

supra, Fitzgerald, supra.  In other words, when a statutes creates its own cause of action, no § 1983

action may proceed.  Id.  

The Enforcement provision of NAGPRA sets forth that “[t]he United States district courts

shall have jurisdiction over any action brought by any person alleging a violation of this act and

shall have the authority to issue such orders as may be necessary to enforce the provisions of this

Act.”  25 U.S.C. § 3013.  By the plain language of the Act, NAGPRA expressly creates its own

cause of action for a Plaintiff to bring forth any alleged injuries sustained under the Act.  There is a

clear statutory and administrative scheme to remedy the Plaintiff’s alleged claims before the

Plaintiff is entitled to file a suit under the NAGPRA.      

Where relief is available from an administrative agency, the plaintiff is ordinarily required to

pursue that remedy first.  Until the administrative remedy is exhausted, proceedings in federal court

are premature and must be dismissed.  Reiter v. Cooper, 507 U.S. 258, 269 (1993).  The Secretary of

the Interior may assess civil penalties under the Act pursuant to section 3007 of NAGPRA.  25

U.S.C. § 3007 (2010).  Any person may bring an allegation of the failure to comply with the Act to

the attention of the Secretary, but the allegation must be in writing. 43 C.F.R. 10.12(c)( Aug. 2010). 

Once proper notice is given, the Secretary will then determine if civil penalties are appropriate.  43

C.F.R. 10.12(d)(Aug. 2010).  Furthermore, a person seeking to assert a repatriation claim must first

exhaust his administrative remedies. Monet v. Hawaii, 1997 U.S. App. LEXIS 11297, *4-5 (9th Cir.

Haw. 1997)(dismissing claim for lack of ripeness); Na Iwi O Na Kupuna O Mokapu v. Dalton, 894
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F. Supp. 1397, 1405-06 (D. Haw. 1995); 43 C.F.R. §10.15(c). However, if a person seeks only 

injunctive relief  relating to a museum’s inventory procedures, no administrative remedy need be

sought because such a remedy does not exist.   Brown v. Hawaii, 2009 U.S. Dist LEXIS 106418 (D.

Haw. 2009).  For example, a person who was not seeking monetary damages for contesting the

repatriation of human remains did not have to exhaust administrative remedies before filing  a

complaint alleging inventory violation of a museum although the court determined that he lacked

standing because the plaintiff could not demonstrate irreparable injury.  Id., at *23-25.

Unlike the plaintiff in Brown, who did not need to exhaust his administrative remedies prior

to filing a complaint in court for a museum’s violation of inventory requirements, John Thorpe is

required to exhaust his administrative remedies against the Borough of Jim Thorpe because he seeks

both monetary damages and repatriation.  Without first seeking administrative remedies, a

designation as to whether the Borough of Jim Thorpe is a museum is in dispute and the

administrative agency would first determine if the Borough of Jim Thorpe is, in fact, a museum

under NAGPRA.  The Plaintiff is attempting to incorporate relief that he is not otherwise entitled to

under the NAGPRA by seeking attorney’s fees, costs,  expert witness, compensatory and punitive

damages from the alleged violation of Section 1983 (see Pl.’s Compl. ¶ 2).  

D. The Plaintiff’s case should be dismissed because the Plaintiff fails to state a
viable cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because Plaintiff has failed to
allege that his injury was inflicted by the Defendants’ acts represented official
policy.

Alternatively, if this Honorable Court finds that the Plaintiff’s Section 1983 claim is not

precluded by the NAGPRA, the Plaintiff has failed to state a viable cause of action under 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983.  Additionally, the individual Defendants personally named in their official capacity have

qualified immunity.

 42 U.S.C. §1983 states that “Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance,

regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or
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causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction

thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and

laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding

for redress, except that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or omission taken in

such officer's judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a declaratory decree was

violated or declaratory relief was unavailable.” [emphasis added].   

In order to state a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a plaintiff must allege violations of a right

secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States, and must show that the alleged

deprivation was committed by a person acting “under color of state law”.  Schorr v. Borough of

Lemoyne, 265 F.Supp. 2d 488, 491 (M.D.Pa. 2003).  A Section 1983 claim essentially has two

elements; namely, that the Plaintiff has claimed that the Defendants were acting (1) under color of

law; and that while the Defendants were acting under color of law, they (2) subjected the Plaintiff to

a deprivation of rights under the laws.  See Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 98 S.Ct.

2018, 56 L.Ed. 22 611 (1978)(overruling, in part, Monroe v. Pape, 365 U.S. 167 (1961)).   In order

to sustain a Section 1983 claim, the Plaintiff must allege more than the mere fact that the bureau is

the employer, but also needs proof of policy, or unwritten rule of custom, or repeated usage which

puts the employer on notice of the employee’s actions.  Monell, supra, at 694-95, 98 S.Ct. at 2037-

38, 56 L.Ed. at 638.  In order to hold municipalities liable under a Section 1983 claim, the Plaintiff

must show that his injury was inflicted by the government’s law makers or by those whose edicts or

acts may fairly be said to represent official policy.  City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik, 485 U.S. 112,

124-25, 108 S.Ct. 915, 924-25, 99 L.Ed.2d. 107, 118-19 (1988). 

The Plaintiff’s claims are entirely a creation of federal law under the NAGPRA.  The

Plaintiffs have not cited or alleged any official municipal policy or unwritten policy that would have

any inkling that the Borough of Jim Thorpe and its individual officials have a policy or custom of
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violating the procedures of the NAGPRA for the inventory and repatriation of Native American

remains.  Additionally, no averments are set forth that the Borough of Jim Thorpe and its individual

officers must even have a policy to inventory Native American remains as part of their

governmental function as a municipality under Pennsylvania law.  The determination of whether a

person has final decision-making authority in a particular area is a question of state law for the

judge to decide and not a question of fact for the jury to resolve.  City of St. Louis, supra.   

In Romero, the 5th Circuit of Appeals affirmed the district court’s decision to grant qualified

immunity to all government defendants sued in their individual capacities because the plaintiff’s

allegations under NAGPRA were conclusory and provided no specific details about the involvement

of the individual defendants.  Romero, supra, at 355 (citing to Blackburn v. City of Marshall, 42

F.3d 925, 931 (5th Cir. 1995)).  The Romero Court further dismissed the plaintiff’s Section 1983

claim against the defendant city because the plaintiff failed to allege that “an official municipal

policy, practice, or custom led to a violation of his constitutional rights.”  Id. (citing to Piotrowski v.

City of Houston, 237 F.3d 567, 579 (5th Cir. 2001)). 

E. The Plaintiff’s Complaint should be dismissed as to the individually named
officials of the Borough of Jim Thorpe because the individual officers named in
the Plaintiff’s Complaint are entitled to qualified immunity.

The individually named Defendants in their representative and offical capacity have

qualified immunity.  See Edelman v. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 94 S.Ct. 1347, 39 L.Ed. 2d 662 (1974). 

The Edelman Court  held that the 11th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution prohibits all awards of

retroactive damages that are to be paid out of the state treasury.  Id., at 663-64, 94 S.Ct. at 1356, 39

L.Ed.2d at 673.  Although a federal court may order a future compliance of federal guidelines in the

form of a prospective injunction, it may not compel payment of damages to compensate for past

violations.  Id., at 675-77, 94 S.Ct. at 1362, 39 L.Ed. 2d at 680-81.  In other words, Edelman sets

forth that the 11th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution does not bar a plaintiff from suing a state
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officer to enjoin him or her from enforcing a statute in the present for prospective relief; however, a

plaintiff cannot retroactively sue a state or state officer for damages that would be paid from the

state treasury.  Id.  

  Moreover, the Edelman test has been recently modified by the case of Seminole Tribe of

Fla. v. Florida, infra, Edelman, supra.  The U.S. Supreme Court ruled that a state officer cannot be

sued to enforce a federal law that contains a comprehensive enforcement.  Seminole Tribe of Fla. v.

Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 74, 116 S.Ct. 1114, 1132, 134 L.Ed. 2d 252, 278 (1996)(“where Congress has

prescribed a detailed remedial scheme for the enforcement against a state of a statutorily created

right, a court should hesitate before casting aside those limitations and permitting an action against a

state officer based upon Ex parte Young [209 U.S. 123 (1908)].”).  As in the present case, the

NAGPRA has a comprehensive federal administrative scheme for civil penalties and the repatriation

of human remains under the Act.  The Plaintiff has failed to enlist the U.S. Secretary of Interior

pursuant the NAGPRA.

F. The Borough of Jim Thorpe is not a museum pursuant to the NAGPRA because
it does not receive federal funds to preserve Native American artifacts and
remains.

Under the NAGPRA, the term “museum” is defined as “any institution or State or local

government agency (including institutions of higher learning) that receives Federal funds and has

possession of, or control over, Native American human remains or cultural items. 43 C.F.R.

10.2(a)(3).  Possession means having physical custody of human remains. 43 C.F.R. 10.2(a)(3)(i).

Control means having a legal interest in human remains sufficient to lawfully permit a museum to

treat the objects as part of its collection whether or not the remains are in the physical custody of the

museum.  43 C.F.R. 10.2(a)(3)(ii).  Federal funds means any grant, loan, contract or arrangement by

a Federal agency to a museum or the State or local government of which the museum is part thereof.

43 C.F.R. 10.2(a)(3)(iii).  The NAGPRA applies to Federally funded museums. See Pueblo of San
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Iidefonso v. Ridlon, 103 F.3d 936 (10th Cir. N.M. 1996)(Museum run by the reagents of the

University of California was a “museum” under the Act because it housed collections of artifacts

and received Federal funding).  Museums are those institutions or state and local agencies that are

established to perform historic preservation and receive federal funds either directly or indirectly. 

See Brown v. Hawaii, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 106418 (D. Haw. 2009)(Explaining that a State

agency established to administer a comprehensive historic preservation program and receiving  two

Federal grants in connection with its programs was a museum pursuant to the NAGPRA). 

Here the Borough of Jim Thorpe is not a museum pursuant to the NAGPRA because it is not

an institution or state or local government agency that houses or collects works of historical, artistic,

or scientific significance.  The Borough merely provided a suitable site within the confines of the

borough for the interment of Jim Thorpe’s remains pursuant to a written agreement between the

Borough and Jim Thorpe’s widow.  The Borough provides care and supervision of the grave site,

but does not have it as part of any collection which could be construed as a museum.  Jim Thorpe is

a modern day figure3 and the location of his grave site and the renaming and merger of two existing

boroughs into  the Borough of Jim Thorpe is a tribute to Jim Thorpe’s name and his legacy. 

Thorpe’s remains were not removed, stolen, or otherwise separated from tribal burial grounds,

which is the impetus of the NAGPRA, but were interred within the Borough of Jim Thorpe

according to the man’s religious beliefs as well as the tribal traditions of his father. 

G. The case should be dismissed since the Plaintiff has failed to join all necessary
parties when he failed to include all lineal descendants of Jim Thorpe and the
Sac and Fox Nation of Oklahoma and Potawatomi Tribe as additional
defendants who may have competing interests to the Plaintiff.

Pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(7), the Defendants may move to dismiss the complaint for the
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failure of the Plaintiff to join necessary parties pursuant to Rule 19.  Under F.R.C.P. 19(a)(1)(B), the

failure to join a person who may claim an interest relating to the subject of the action which in

disposing of the action may impair or impede the person’s ability to protect the interest or leave an

existing party subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent

obligations because of the interest.   

The Plaintiff has failed to join all lineal descendants of Jim Thorpe and the Sac and Fox

Nation of Oklahoma and the Potawatomi Tribe as additional defendants who may have a competing

interests.  The Plaintiff wants Jim Thorpe’s remains returned to him.  Other lineal descendants of

Jim Thorpe may have alternative ideas of where his remains should remain.  Without joining all

lineal descendants, the Defendants may be exposed to other claims by Jim Thorpe’s other lineal

descendants who may also seek his remains.  Additionally, the Plaintiff should include the Sac and

Fox Nation of Oklahoma and the Potawatomi Tribe to ensure their interests are protected in this

litigation as well.  

V. CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, the Plaintiff’s Complaint should be dismissed.
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